TSS, Inc. Form DEF 14A April 30, 2015

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

 \mathbf{X}

Filed by the Registrant

amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

(4)

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant 0 Check the appropriate box: **Preliminary Proxy Statement** o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2)) **Definitive Proxy Statement** X **Definitive Additional Materials** o Soliciting Material under §240.14a-12 o TSS, Inc. (Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter) (Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant) Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box): No fee required. Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11. 0 Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies: (1) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies: (2)

TSS, Inc.

Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:

Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the

(5)	Total fee paid:			
o Fee paid previously with preliminary materials. Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the fowhich the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement numb. Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.				
(1)	Amount Previously Paid:			
(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:			
(3)	Filing Party:			
(4)	Date Filed:			

TSS, Inc. 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, TX 78664 (512) 310-3100

April 30, 2015

Dear Stockholder.

We cordially invite you to attend our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held at 10:00 a.m., Central Daylight Time, on Wednesday, June 10, 2015, at our offices located at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664. The attached notice of annual meeting and this proxy statement describe the business we will conduct at the annual meeting and provide information about us that you should consider when you vote your shares.

At the annual meeting, one person will be elected as a Class I director. In addition, we will ask stockholders to approve our new 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan and to ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015. The enclosed proxy statement contains the recommendation of our Board of Directors on each of these proposals.

We hope you will be able to attend the annual meeting. Whether you plan to attend the annual meeting or not, it is important that your shares are represented. Therefore, when you have finished reading the proxy statement, you are urged to complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card promptly in accordance with the instructions set forth on the card. We encourage you to vote by proxy so that your shares will be represented and voted at the meeting, whether or not you can attend.

Sincerely,

/s/ Anthony Angelini

Anthony Angelini
President and Chief Executive Officer

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TSS, INC. 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, TX 78664 (512) 310-3100

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON JUNE 10, 2015

To the Stockholders of TSS. Inc.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2015 annual meeting of stockholders of TSS, Inc. will be held at 10:00 a.m., Central Daylight Time, on June 10, 2015 (the Annual Meeting) at our office located at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664 for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect Mr. Gerard J. Gallagher as a Class I director to serve a three-year term;
 - 2. To approve the Company s 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan;
- 3. To ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015; and
- 4. To transact such other business as may properly be presented before the Annual Meeting and any adjournments or postponements thereof.
- Only those holders of our common stock of record as of the close of business on April 29, 2015, are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting and at any adjournments or postponements thereof. A list of stockholders of record will be available at the meeting and, during the 10 days prior to the meeting, at our offices at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664.

A total of 15,658,680 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding as of that record date. Each share of our common stock entitles its holder to one vote. Cumulative voting of shares of common stock is not permitted.

All stockholders are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting. At least a majority of all issued and outstanding shares of common stock on the record date is required to constitute a quorum. Accordingly, whether you plan to attend the Annual Meeting or not, we ask that you complete, sign, date and return the enclosed proxy card as soon as possible in accordance with the instructions on the proxy card. A pre-addressed, postage prepaid return envelope is enclosed for your convenience.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

/s/ Anthony Angelini

Anthony Angelini
President and Chief Executive Officer

TABLE OF CONTENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING 1
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 5
MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 7
EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 12
REPORT OF AUDIT COMMITTEE 16
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE 17
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 17
PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED UPON BY STOCKHOLDERS 18
CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS 27
OTHER MATTERS 27
STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS 27

TABLE OF CONTENTS 6

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TSS, INC. 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, TX 78664 (512) 310-3100

PROXY STATEMENT 2015 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

Why Did You Send Me this Proxy Statement?

We sent you this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card because our Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy to vote at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and any adjournments or postponements of the meeting, to be held at 10:00 a.m., Central Daylight Time, on Wednesday, June 10, 2015, at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664. This proxy statement along with the accompanying notice of annual meeting of stockholders summarizes the purposes of the meeting and the information you need to know to vote at the annual meeting.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to Be Held on June 10, 2015. The proxy statement and annual report to security holders are available at http://www.cstproxy.com/totalsitesolutions/2015.

On or around April 30, 2015, we began sending this proxy statement, the attached notice of annual meeting of stockholders and the enclosed proxy card to all stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting. Although not part of this proxy statement, our 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K, which includes our financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, accompanies this proxy statement. You can also find a copy of this proxy statement and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 at http://www.cstproxy.com/totalsitesolutions/2015.

Who Can Vote?

Only stockholders who owned our common stock at the close of business on April 29, 2015 are entitled to vote at the annual meeting. On this record date, there were 15,658,680 shares of our common stock outstanding and entitled to vote. Our common stock is our only class of voting stock.

You do not need to attend the annual meeting to vote your shares. Shares represented by valid proxies, received in time for the meeting and not revoked prior to the meeting, will be voted at the meeting. A stockholder may revoke a

proxy before the proxy is voted by providing a signed statement of revocation or a duly executed proxy card bearing a later date to us at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664, Attention: John Penver, Chief Financial Officer. Any stockholder who has executed a proxy card but attends the meeting in person may revoke the proxy and vote at the meeting.

How Many Votes Do I Have?

Each share of our common stock that you own entitles you to one vote.

How Do I Vote?

Whether you plan to attend the annual meeting or not, we urge you to vote by proxy. Voting by proxy will not affect your right to attend the annual meeting. If your shares are registered directly in your name through our stock transfer agent, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 17 Battery Place, New York, NY 10004, or you have stock certificates, you may vote:

By mail. Complete and mail the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed postage prepaid envelope. Your proxy will be voted in accordance with your instructions. If you sign the proxy card but do not specify how you want your shares voted, they will be voted as recommended by our Board of Directors.

In person at the meeting. If you attend the annual meeting, you may deliver your completed proxy card in person or you may vote by completing a ballot, which will be available at the meeting.

1

Who Can Vote?

If your shares are held in street name (held in the name of a bank, broker or other nominee), you must provide the bank, broker or other nominee with instructions on how to vote your shares and can do so as follows:

By mail. You will receive instructions from your bank, broker or other nominee explaining how to vote your shares. **In person at the meeting**. Contact the bank, broker or other nominee who holds your shares to obtain a broker s proxy card and bring it with you to the meeting. You will not be able to vote at the meeting unless you have a proxy card from your broker.

How Does the Board of Directors Recommend That I Vote on the **Proposals?**

The Board of Directors recommends that you vote as follows:

FOR the election of Mr. Gerard J. Gallagher as a Class I director;
FOR the approval of the Company s 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan; and
FOR the ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2015.

If any other matter is presented, the proxy card provides that your shares will be voted by the proxy holder listed on the proxy card in accordance with his best judgment. At the time this proxy statement was printed, we knew of no matters that needed to be acted on at the annual meeting, other than those discussed in this proxy statement.

May I Revoke My Proxy?

If you give us your proxy, you may revoke it at any time before the meeting. You may revoke your proxy in any one of the following ways:

signing a new proxy card and submitting it, as instructed above;

notifying us at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664, Attention: John Penver, Chief Financial Officer, in writing before the annual meeting that you have revoked your proxy; or

attending the meeting in person and voting in person. Attending the meeting in person will not in and of itself revoke a previously submitted proxy, unless you specifically request it.

What if I Receive More Than One Proxy Card?

You may receive more than one proxy card or voting instruction form if you hold shares of our common stock in more than one account, which may be in registered form or held in street name. Please vote in the manner described under How Do I Vote? for each account to ensure that all of your shares are voted.

Will My Shares be Voted if I Do Not Return My Proxy Card?

If your shares are registered in your name or if you have stock certificates, your shares will not be voted if you do not return your proxy card by mail or vote at the meeting as described above under How Do I Vote?

If your shares are held in street name and you do not provide voting instructions to the bank, broker or other nominee that holds your shares as described above under How Do I Vote?, the bank, broker or other nominee has the authority to vote your unvoted shares on Proposals 2 and 3, even if it does not receive instructions from you. We encourage you to provide voting instructions. This ensures your shares will be voted at the meeting in the manner you desire. If your

How Do I Vote?

bank, broker or other nominee cannot vote your shares on a particular matter because it has not received instructions from you and does not have discretionary voting authority on that matter, this is referred to as a broker non-vote.

What Vote is Required to Approve Each Proposal and How are Votes Counted?

Proposal 1: Elect One Director

Proposal 2: Approve the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

Proposal 3: Ratify the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The affirmative vote of a plurality of the shares of common stock cast by stockholders present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting is required to elect Mr. Gerard J. Gallagher as a Class I director. You may vote either FOR the nominee or WITHHOLD your vote from the nominee. Votes that are withheld will not be included in the vote for the election of directors. Banks, brokers, and other nominees do NOT have the authority to vote your uninstructed shares in the election of directors. If you hold your shares in street name and you do not instruct your bank, broker, or other nominee how to vote your shares in the election of directors, no votes will be cast on your behalf. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the election.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual meeting is required to approve the Company s 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. Abstentions will be treated as shares represented at the meeting and will have the same effect as votes against this proposal. Banks, brokers, and other nominees have discretionary authority to vote customers uninstructed shares held by the firms in street name on this proposal.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual meeting is required to ratify the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm. Abstentions will be treated as shares represented at the meeting and will have the same effect as votes against this proposal. Banks, brokers, and other nominees have discretionary authority to vote customers—uninstructed shares held by the firms in street name on this proposal. We are not required to obtain the approval of our stockholders to appoint our independent registered public accounting firm. If our stockholders do not ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2015, our Audit Committee of our Board of Directors will reconsider its appointment.

Is Voting Confidential?

We will keep all the proxies, ballots and voting tabulations private. We only let our Inspector of Election, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, examine these documents. Management will not know how you voted on a specific proposal unless it is necessary to meet legal requirements. We will, however, receive any written comments you make on the proxy card or elsewhere.

What Are the Costs of Soliciting these Proxies?

We will pay all of the costs of soliciting these proxies. Our directors and employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone, fax or email. We will pay these employees and directors no additional compensation for these services. We will ask banks, brokers and other institutions, nominees and fiduciaries to forward these proxy materials to their principals and to obtain authority to execute proxies. We will then reimburse them for their expenses.

What Constitutes a Quorum for the Meeting?

The presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of the record date is necessary to constitute a quorum at the meeting. Votes of stockholders of record who are present at the meeting in person or by proxy, abstentions, and broker non-votes are counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists.

Attending the Annual Meeting

The annual meeting will be held at 10:00 a.m., Central Daylight Time, on Wednesday, June 10, 2015, at our offices at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664. When you arrive at our offices, signs will direct you to the appropriate meeting rooms. You need not attend the annual meeting in order to vote.

Householding of Annual Disclosure Documents

The Securities and Exchange Commission has adopted a rule concerning the delivery of annual disclosure documents. The rule allows us, or your broker, to send a single set of our annual report and proxy statement to any household at which two or more of our stockholders reside, if we or your broker believe that the stockholders are members of the same family. This practice, referred to as householding, benefits both you and us. It reduces the volume of duplicate information received at your household and helps to reduce our expenses. The rule applies to our annual reports, proxy statements and information statements. Once you receive notice from your broker or from us that communications to your address will be householded, the practice will continue until you are otherwise notified or until you revoke your consent to the practice. Each stockholder will continue to receive a separate proxy card or voting instruction card.

If you do not wish to participate in householding and would like to receive your own set of our annual disclosure documents in future years, follow the instructions described below. Conversely, if you share an address with another stockholder and together both of you would like to receive only a single set of our annual disclosure documents, follow these instructions:

If your shares are registered in your own name, please contact our transfer agent, Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, and inform them of your request by calling them at 212.509.4000 ext. 206, or by e-mail at *cstmail@continentalstock.com*, or writing them at 17 Battery Place, New York, NY 10004. If a broker or other nominee holds your shares, please contact the broker or other nominee directly and inform them of your request. Be sure to include your name, the name of your brokerage firm and your account number.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 29, 2015 for (a) each of our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table on page 12 of this proxy statement, (b) each of our directors and director nominees, (c) all of our current directors and executive officers as a group and (d) each stockholder known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of our common stock. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. Except as indicated in footnotes to this table, we believe that the stockholders named in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown to be beneficially owned by them based on information provided to us by these stockholders. Percentage of ownership is based on 15,658,680 shares of common stock outstanding on April 29, 2015. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each director and current executive officer is c/o TSS, Inc., 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664.

	Beneficially Owned	Ownersh	nip
Directors and Executive Officers			
Peter H. Woodward ⁽¹⁾	3,203,708	18.99	%
Anthony Angelini ⁽²⁾	390,000	2.49	%
Gerard J. Gallagher ⁽³⁾	1,241,351	7.88	%
Daniel J. Phelps ⁽⁴⁾	261,999	1.66	%
John K. Penver ⁽⁵⁾	300,000	1.92	%
Martin T. Olsen ⁽⁶⁾	380,000	2.43	%
All directors and officers combined as a group (6 persons) ⁽⁷⁾	5,777,058	33.85	%
5% Stockholders			
MHW Capital Management, LLC ⁽¹⁾	3,203,708	18.99	%
Norman H. Pessin ⁽⁸⁾	1,735,712	11.08	%
Lalit Aggarwal ⁽⁹⁾	986,039	6.30	%

^{*} Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Derived from a Schedule 13D/A (Amendment No. 4) filed jointly by MHW Capital Management, LLC, Peter H. Woodward, MHW Partners, L.P., and MHW SPV II, LLC on February 10, 2015. According to the Schedule 13D/A, MHW Capital Management LLC has shared voting and dispositive power with respect to 3,103,708 shares, MHW Partners, L.P., has shared voting and dispositive power with respect to 825,086 shares, and MHW SPV II, LLC has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 1,115,827 shares that are issuable upon exercise of a warrant. The warrant is exercisable for a period of five years from February 3, 2015, at an exercise price of \$0.50 for 472,500 shares, \$1.00 for 425, 250 shares, and \$1.30 for 218,077 shares. Mr. Woodward has shared voting and dispositive power with respect to 100,000 shares that may be acquired within 60 days of the record date by exercising stock options. Mr. Woodward is a principal of MHW Capital Management, LLC, which is the investment manager of MHW Partners, LP and MHW SPV II, LLC, and may be considered to have beneficial ownership of the shares held by MHW Partners, LP

disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in the shares. The business address of MHW Capital Management is 150 East 52nd Street, New York, New York 10022.

and other entities for which MHW Capital Management, LLC acts as investment manager. Mr. Woodward

(2) Includes 140,000 shares of restricted stock that are subject to forfeiture.

- (3) Includes 93,333 shares issuable upon the conversion of a note held by Mr. Gallagher.
- (4) Includes 100,000 shares that may be acquired by Mr. Phelps by exercising stock options.
 - (5) Includes 250,000 shares of restricted stock that are subject to forfeiture.
 - (6) Includes 180,000 shares of restricted stock that are subject to forfeiture.
- (7) Includes 1,115,827 shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant, 93,333 shares issuable upon conversion of a note, and 200,000 shares that may be acquired by exercising stock options.

Derived from a Schedule 13D/A (Amendment No. 4) filed jointly by Norman H. Pessin and Sandra F. Pessin on August 23, 2013. According to the Schedule 13D/A, SEP IRA FBO Norman H. Pessin has sole voting and

- (8) dispositive power with respect to 84,582 shares, Mrs. Pessin has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 257,799 shares, and Norman H. Pessin Roth IRA R/O has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 1,393,331 shares. Mr. and Mrs. Pessin s business address is 366 Madison Avenue, 14th Floor, New York 10017. Derived from the Schedule 13G/A filed by Lalit Aggarwal on February 17, 2015. According to the Schedule
- (9) 13G/A, Mr. Aggarwal has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to 426,407 and shared voting and dispositive power with respect to 559,632 shares. The business address of Mr. Aggarwal is 2 Bloor Street West, Suite 2602, Toronto, ON M4W 3E2.

MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that our business is to be managed by or under the direction of our Board of Directors. We do not have a policy as to whether the role of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors should be separate or combined or whether the Chairman of the Board of Directors should be a management or non-management director. Our Board of Directors believes that having an independent director serve as the non-executive Chairman of our Board of Directors is in the best interests of our stockholders. This structure allows the Chairman of our Board of Directors to focus on the effectiveness of our Board of Directors while the Chief Executive Officer focuses on executing our strategic plan and managing our operations and performance.

In accordance with our Certificate of Incorporation, our Board of Directors is divided into three classes for purposes of election. One class is elected at each annual meeting of stockholders to serve for a three-year term. Our Board of Directors currently consists of four members, classified into three classes as follows:

Mr. Gerard J. Gallagher constitutes a class with a term ending at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders; and Mr. Anthony Angelini constitutes a class with a term ending at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders; and Messrs. Peter H. Woodward and Daniel J. Phelps constitute a class with a term ending at the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the directors.

Our Board of Directors has voted to nominate Mr. Gallagher for election at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders for a term of three years to serve until the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and until his successor has been elected and qualified, or until his earlier death, resignation or removal.

Set forth below are the names of the person nominated as directors and our current directors whose terms do not expire this year, their ages, their offices in the company, if any, their principal occupations or employment for the past five years, the length of their tenure as directors, the names of other public companies in which such persons have held directorships during the past five years, and the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills that support the conclusion that these persons should serve as members of our Board of Directors. Mr. Woodward and Mr. Phelps are non-employee directors and the members of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee.

Name Age Position with the Company

Peter H. Woodward 42 Chairman Daniel J. Phelps 47 Director

Anthony Angelini 51 Chief Executive Officer and Director Gerard J. Gallagher 58 Chief Technology Officer and Director

Peter H. Woodward, age 42, has been a Director since January 3, 2012, and Chairman of our Board of Directors since March 2012. Mr. Woodward is the Founder and President of MHW Capital Management, a private investment firm that takes concentrated positions in micro-cap turnaround companies, with a focus on the technology sector. Prior to founding MHW Capital Management in 2005, Mr. Woodward was a Managing Director at Regan Fund Management Ltd., a hedge fund group specializing in active equity investments in public companies and revitalizing their business

plans. In addition to serving on our Board of Directors, Mr. Woodward is currently a director of SMF Energy Corp and The Management Network Group, Inc. Previously, he served as Chairman of the Board of Hampshire Group, Limited, a Director at News Edge Corp., Zomax, Inc. and Innodata-Isogen, Inc. Mr. Woodward holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Colgate University and a Master s degree in International Economics from Columbia University. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Woodward is very familiar with our industry and his capital markets experience is valuable to our Board of Directors.

7

The Board of Directors 18

Daniel J. Phelps, age 47, has been a Director since August 2012. Mr. Phelps is a Managing Director of Salt Creek Capital, a California-based private equity firm he founded in July 2009. Mr. Phelps also serves as President of Electro-Motion, Inc., a portfolio company of Salt Creek Capital. Previously, Mr. Phelps served as a General Partner and founding member of Duchossois Technology Partners, a Chicago-based venture capital firm, where he led software and networking investments, and as a General Partner of Opus Capital, a California-based venture capital firm. Mr. Phelps also held an investment management position with the Pritzker Financial Office in Chicago and was a member of the Financial Services group at Ernst & Young LLP. Mr. Phelps currently serves as a member of the Board of Directors of Infoblox (NYSE:BLOX), a leading provider of automated network control solutions, and on the Board of Directors of several private companies. Mr. Phelps holds a B.S. degree in business administration from The Ohio State University and an M.B.A. from the University of Chicago and is a certified public accountant (inactive). Mr. Phelps provides our Board of Directors with financial expertise and significant experience in the venture capital industry analyzing, investing in, and serving on the boards of technology companies.

Anthony Angelini, age 51, has served as a Director and as our Chief Executive Officer since January 2012. From September 2007 until January 2012, Mr. Angelini ran his own consulting company working with private and public companies in the areas of operations and growth strategy development. From February 2004 through September 2006, Mr. Angelini was the Chief Executive Officer of Zomax, Inc., a publicly traded provider of supply chain services. From 1998 to February 2004, Mr. Angelini held multiple executive-level positions at Zomax. From 1989 to 1998, Mr. Angelini founded and led the growth of several service-based private companies that were sold to Zomax in 1998. Mr. Angelini received a Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance from California State University, Chico in 1986. Mr. Angelini has over 20 years of experience as an operator and manager, including as a chief executive officer of a publicly traded company.

On June 9, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission filed a civil injunctive action charging certain executive officers of Zomax, Inc. with violations of the federal securities laws by misrepresenting or omitting to state material facts regarding Zomax s prospects of meeting quarterly revenue and earnings targets during a conference call with analysts. The SEC further charged that Mr. Angelini, Zomax s President and Chief Operating Officer at the time of such conference call, recklessly failed to act to prevent such disclosures and omissions of material facts from being made. Without admitting or denying the SEC s charges, Mr. Angelini consented to the entry of a court order enjoining him from any violations of certain provisions of the federal securities laws. In addition, Mr. Angelini agreed to disgorge \$43,700 plus prejudgment interest and pay a \$50,000 civil penalty.

Gerard J. Gallagher, age 58, is a Director and our Chief Technical Officer. He has been a Director since our acquisition of TSS/Vortech in January 2007, and previously served as our President and Chief Operating Officer until August 13, 2013, when he was appointed Chief Technical Officer. Mr. Gallagher has more than 29 years of experience in mission-critical fields. Since 2002, he has served as the co-founder and President of TSS and the co-founder and President of Vortech. From 1998 to 2001, Mr. Gallagher served as the President of the Total Site Solutions division of Encompass Services Corp. From 1997 to 1998, he served as the President of the Total Site Solutions division of Commercial Air, Power & Cable, Inc. From 1991 to 1997, he served as the Chief Facilities Operations and Security Officer of the International Monetary Fund. From 1980 to 1991, Mr. Gallagher also served in various capacities at Com Site International, most recently as Senior Vice President of Engineering and Sales. Mr. Gallagher received a Bachelor of Science in Fire Science from the University of Maryland and a Bachelor of Science in Organizational Management (Summa Cum Laude) from Columbia Union College. Mr. Gallagher provides our Board of Directors insight into the ownership and operation of mission-critical services business and perspective related to industry trends, technical innovations, operational matters, marketing, and sales.

The Board of Directors 19

Director Independence

The Board of Directors has adopted the director independence standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC. Our Board of Directors has reviewed the materiality of any relationship that each of our directors has with the company, either directly or indirectly. Based upon this review, our Board of Directors has determined that each of Mr. Woodward and Mr. Phelps is an independent director as defined by The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC and has no material relationship with us, except as a director and/or stockholder. When

determining the independence of Mr. Woodward, the Board of Directors considered the amount of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by Mr. Woodward.

Role in Risk Oversight

As part of its general responsibility to manage our business, the Board of Directors has oversight responsibility with respect to risk management. The Board of Directors has delegated primary responsibility for risk oversight and the monitoring of our significant areas of risk to the Audit Committee. In accordance with its charter, the Audit Committee inquires of management and our independent registered accounting firm about significant risks or exposures to risks and discusses guidelines and policies to govern the steps management has taken to minimize these risks. The Audit Committee regularly reports the results of these inquiries and discussions to our Board of Directors.

Committees of the Board of Directors and Meetings

Meeting Attendance

Although we do not have any formal policy regarding director attendance at our annual meetings, we will attempt to schedule our annual meetings so that all of our directors can attend. All of our directors attended the 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders either in person or telephonically. During 2014, the Board of Directors met six times. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, all of our directors attended at least 75% of the meetings of the Board of Directors and committees of the Board of Directors on which they served.

Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee currently has two members, Peter H. Woodward and Daniel J. Phelps. Our Audit Committee s role and responsibilities are set forth in a written charter and include the authority to retain and terminate the services of our independent registered public accounting firm, review annual financial statements, review quarterly financial statement, consider matters relating to accounting policy and internal controls and review the scope of annual audits.

The Audit Committee met six times in 2014.

Each of Mr. Woodward and Mr. Phelps satisfies the current independence standards promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission and The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC, as such standards apply specifically to members of audit committees. The Board has determined that each of Mr. Woodward and Mr. Phelps is an audit committee financial expert, as the Securities and Exchange Commission has defined that term in Item 407 of Regulation S-K. Please also see the report of the Audit Committee set forth elsewhere in this proxy statement.

A copy of the Audit Committee s written charter is publicly available on our website at www.totalsitesolutions.com.

Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee currently has two members, Peter H. Woodward and Daniel J. Phelps. Our Compensation Committee reviews, approves and makes recommendations regarding our compensation policies, practices and procedures to ensure that legal and fiduciary responsibilities of the Board of Directors are carried out and that such policies, practices and procedures contribute to our success. The Compensation Committee is responsible for the determination of the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Technical Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Sales & Marketing and conducts its decision-making process with

respect to their compensation without the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Technical Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President, Sales & Marketing present. Each of Mr. Woodward and Mr. Phelps qualifies as an independent director under the definition promulgated by The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC. The Compensation Committee met once in 2014.

The Compensation Committee has the responsibility to:

review, modify and approve our overall compensation strategy;

recommend to the Board of Directors the compensation and terms of employment of our executive officers, including Anthony Angelini, our Chief Executive Officer, Gerard J. Gallagher, our Chief Technical Officer, John K. Penver, our Chief Financial Officer, and Martin T. Olsen, our Executive Vice President, Sales & Marketing, and to evaluate their respective performance in light of relevant goals and objectives;

review and recommend to our Board of Directors the type and amount of compensation to be paid or awarded to the members of our Board of Directors;

recommend to our Board of Directors the adoption, amendment and termination of any bonus, equity and other deferred compensation plans;

administers all equity-based plans, including the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan; determine appropriate insurance coverage for our executive officers and directors; and review, discuss and assess its own performance at least annually.

Our Compensation Committee approves and makes recommendations to our Board of Directors with respect to the compensation for our executive officers (other than Mr. Angelini) with the advice of Mr. Angelini and/or one or more other executive officers designated by Mr. Angelini. Although the Compensation Committee receives information and recommendations regarding the design and level of compensation for the executive officers from management, the Compensation Committee makes the final recommendations to the Board of Directors as to the design and compensation levels for the executive officers. To the extent we enter into employment agreements with our executive officers, those agreements would be subject to negotiation between us and the applicable executive officer. The Compensation Committee did not engage a compensation consultant in 2014.

A copy of the Compensation Committee s written charter is publicly available on our website at www.totalsitesolutions.com.

Nominations for Directors

We do not currently have a standing Nominating Committee. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Woodward and Mr. Phelps, the independent members of the Board of Directors, adequately fulfill the obligations of a nominating committee without the need of incurring additional costs of committee meetings.

The Board of Directors considers recommendations of potential candidates from current directors, management and stockholders. Stockholders nominations for directors must be made in writing and must include the following information:

the name, age, business address, and residence address of the nominee;
the principal occupation or employment of the nominee;
the number of shares of our common stock that are beneficially owned by the nominee;
any other information relating to the nominee that is required to be disclosed in the solicitations for proxies
for the election of directors under the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission;
the name and record address of the stockholder making the nomination; and
the number of shares of common stock that are beneficially owned by the stockholder making the nomination.
Nominations by stockholders must be delivered to or mailed and received at our headquarters address listed below,
and generally must be received no later than 60 days nor earlier than 90 days prior to the meeting. However, in the
event that less than 75 days notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting is given or made to
stockholders, notice by the stockholders to be timely must be received no later than the close of business on the
fifteenth day following the day on which such notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure
was made, whichever first occurs.

Secretary of TSS, Inc. 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd. Round Rock, Texas 78664

Nominations for Directors 23

If a vacancy were to occur on the Board of Directors or if the Board were to increase the number of directors, the Board of Directors would identify potential candidates to fill the vacancy. Although there are no specific qualifications and standards that must be met by a candidate or any specific qualities or skills that a candidate must possess, the Board of Directors would evaluate a candidate on a wide variety of factors. These factors include the candidate s background and qualifications, diversity and business experience, and commitment to serving on the Board of Directors and its committees. It is preferable that candidates have a reputation for sound business judgment and integrity and inspire trust and confidence in the other directors. The Board of Directors does not have a formal policy regarding diversity in identifying candidates but rather considers diversity among the various factors relevant to any particular candidate.

Stockholder Communications to the Board

Stockholders who wish to address questions regarding our business directly with the Board of Directors, or any individual director, should direct his or her questions in writing to the Chairman of the Board of Directors at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664. Communications will be distributed to the Board of Directors, or to any individual director or directors as appropriate, depending on the facts and circumstances outlined in the communications. Items that are unrelated to the duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors may be excluded, such as:

junk mail and mass mailings, resumes and other forms of job inquiries, surveys, or solicitations or advertisements.

In addition, any material that is unduly hostile, threatening, or illegal in nature may be excluded, provided that any communication that is filtered out will be made available to any outside director upon request.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table shows the total compensation earned during the last two fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 to (1) our President and Chief Executive Officer, (2) our Chief Technical Officer, (3) our Chief Financial Officer, (4) our former Chief Financial Officer, and (5) our Executive Vice President Sales & Marketing (collectively, the named executive officers).

Name and Principal Position(s)	Year	Salary	Bonus	Stock Awards ⁽¹⁾	Option Awards ⁽²⁾	Other Compensat	. Total
Anthony Angelini	2014	\$350,000	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$350,000
President and Chief Executive Officer	2013	350,000	37,500				387,500
Canand I Callaghan	2014	75,051				32,170(3)	108,221
Gerard J. Gallagher Chief Technical Officer	2013	75,000				65,342(3)	140,342
John K. Penver ⁽⁴⁾ Chief Financial Officer	2014	77,885		50,000	27,000	33,500 ⁽⁵⁾	188,385
Manna MaNagaray(6)	2014	123,586					123,586
Maura McNerney ⁽⁶⁾ Former Chief Financial Officer	2013	141,885	45,000		96,671		283,646
Martin T. Olsen ⁽⁷⁾ Executive Vice President Sales & Marketing	2014	244,366		122,500	62,500		429,366

- Amounts shown are the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock awards. The grant date fair value of the award is based on the closing price per share of our common stock on the grant date.
- Amounts shown are the aggregate grant date fair value of the stock options granted during 2014 and 2013. These (2) amounts were estimated using the valuation models described in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in the 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 - (3) Amount represents interest paid to Mr. Gallagher under a promissory note held by Mr. Gallagher.
 - (4) Mr. Penver became our Chief Financial Officer on August 29, 2014.
- (5) Amount represents consulting fees paid to Mr. Penver prior to his employment as our Chief Financial Officer.

 (6) Ms. McNerney became our Chief Financial Officer on May 20, 2013 and resigned as our Chief Financial Officer
 - (7) Mr. Olsen became our Executive Vice President, Sales & Marketing on January 14, 2014

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2014 Fiscal Year End

The following table provides information about all equity compensation awards held by the named executive officers at December 31, 2014.

effective June 27, 2014.

		Option Awards Equity			Stock Awards	3	
	Name	Numbin centive plan of awards: securities mber of underlycingrities unexemidedlying options nexercised (#) unearned Unexemptions (#)	Option exercise price (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Option Expiration Date	Number of shares or units of stock that have not vested (#)	Market value of share or units of stock that have not vested ⁽²⁾ (\$)	
	Anthony Angelini	750,000 (3)	0.44	4/30/2022	83,334 (4)	\$ 30,834	
	John K. Penver	200,000 (5)	0.20	8/29/2024	200,000 (6)	74,000	
	Martin T. Olsen	200,000 (5)	0.49	1/14/2024	225,000 (7)	83,250	
12							

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- (1) Equal to the average of the high and low bid prices for our common stock reported daily on the OTCQB marketplace during the 20 trading days following the grant date.
- (2) Represents the value of the restricted stock based on a closing price of \$0.37 per share of common stock on the OTCQB marketplace on December 31, 2014.
- (3) These options become exercisable in installments when the fair market value of our common stock is at least a specified amount for 20 consecutive business day as described below:

Amount	Fair Market		
Amount	Value		
125,000	\$ 1.50		
125,000	2.00		
125,000	2.50		
125,000	3.00		
125,000	3.50		
125,000	4.00		

Other than options to purchase 250,000 shares of our common stock that become exercisable when the fair market value of our common stock is \$3.50 and \$4.00 per share for 20 consecutive business days, these options become immediately exercisable upon the termination of Mr. Angelini s employment by us for Cause (as defined in his employment agreement), by Mr. Angelini for Good Reason (as defined in his employment agreement), or upon his death or disability, provided that the fair market value of our common stock is at least \$1.00 for five trading days between the grant date and the date Mr. Angelini s employment is terminated.

Represents an award of 250,000 restricted shares of our common stock granted to Mr. Angelini in accordance with the employment agreement, dated January 3, 2012, between Mr. Angelini and us. Subject to the following sentence, Mr. Angelini will forfeit these shares upon the termination of his employment with us. These restricted shares will vest and no longer be subject to forfeiture upon (a) a Change in Control of the Corporation (as defined

- (4) in the employment agreement), (b) the termination of Mr. Angelini s employment due to his death or disability, (c) the termination of his employment by us other than for Cause, (d) the termination of his employment by Mr. Angelini for a Good Reason, or (e) the first anniversary after commencement of employment with respect to 83,333 shares, the second anniversary after commencement of employment with respect to 83,333 shares, and the third anniversary of the commencement of employment with respect to 83,334 shares.
- (5) These options become exercisable in installments when the fair market value of our common stock is at least a specified amount for 20 consecutive business days as described below:

Amount	Fair Market
Amount	Value
100,000	\$ 2.00
100,000	3.00

These options become immediately exercisable in the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the executive s Employment Agreement); provided that, in the case of Mr. Penver, the Change in Control occurs on or after August 29, 2015.

(6) Represents an award of 250,000 restricted shares of our common stock granted to Mr. Penver in accordance with the employment agreement, dated August 29, 2014, between Mr. Penver and us. The restricted shares vest in installments as follows: 50,000 shares vested on September 29, 2014, 100,000 shares will vest on August 29, 2015,

and 100,000 shares will vest on August 29, 2016. All unvested shares of restricted stock will vest upon a Change in Control (as defined in the employment agreement), and an amount up to 100,000 shares of restricted stock will vest in certain instances upon the termination of Mr. Penver s employment.

Represents an award of 250,000 restricted shares of our common stock granted to Mr. Olsen in accordance with the employment agreement, dated January 29, 2014, between Mr. Olsen and us. The restricted shares vest in installments as follows: 25,000 shares vested on February 14, 2014, 125,000 shares vested on January 14, 2015, and 100,000 shares will vest on January 14, 2016. All unvested shares will vest upon a Change in Control (as defined in the employment agreement), and 150,000 shares will vest in certain instances upon the termination of Mr. Olsen s employment.

13

(7)

Retirement Plans

We have a tax qualified 401(k) plan designed to assist our eligible officers and employees in providing for their retirement. We currently do not match employee contributions to the plan.

Employment Agreements

Employment Agreement with Anthony Angelini

On January 3, 2012, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Angelini. Under that employment agreement, Mr. Angelini s annual base salary was \$250,000 and he is eligible to receive a bonus in an amount and on terms established by our Board of Directors. On March 14, 2012, that employment agreement was amended to increase Mr. Angelini s base salary to \$350,000. Mr. Angelini is entitled to receive vacation, health insurance, and other benefits generally made available to our other executives and reimbursement for reasonable, out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred by him relating to travel to our various corporate offices. If we terminate Mr. Angelini s employment other than for Cause (as defined in the employment agreement), Mr. Angelini terminates his employment for a Good Reason (as defined in the employment agreement), or his employment is terminated by reason of his death or disability, we will pay Mr. Angelini a lump sum payment equal to his then current base salary.

Employment Agreement with Gerard J. Gallagher

On January 19, 2007, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Gallagher, which was subsequently amended on August 26, 2008, February 28, 2010, and March 14, 2012. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Gallagher agreed to serve as our President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Gallagher s current base compensation is \$75,000, and his base salary automatically increased to \$175,000 effective January 1, 2013. Mr. Gallagher is also eligible to receive an annual bonus of up to 50% of his then applicable base compensation (the amount of the bonus and the criteria for the bonus to be determined by our Board of Directors). In addition to base compensation and eligibility for a bonus, Mr. Gallagher is entitled to receive vacation, health insurance and other benefits as generally made available to our other executives. If we terminate Mr. Gallagher s employment for reasons other than Cause or Mr. Gallagher terminates his employment for Good Reason (as those terms are defined in the employment agreement), Mr. Gallagher is entitled to receive amounts equal to his base compensation (as and on the terms otherwise payable) and a portion of any elected COBRA coverage for twelve months from the date of termination.

Employment Agreement with John K. Penver

On August 29, 2014, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Penver. Under that employment agreement, Mr. Penver s annual base salary is \$250,000, and he is eligible to receive a bonus in an amount and on terms established by our Board of Directors. Mr. Penver is entitled to receive vacation, health insurance, and other benefits generally made available to our other executives. If we terminate Mr. Penver s employment other than for Cause (as defined in the employment agreement) or Mr. Penver terminates his employment for a Good Reason (as defined in the employment agreement), the Company will continue paying Mr. Penver his base salary commencing on the date of termination and ending (a) six months from the date of termination, or (b) twelve months from the date of termination if the termination of employment is terminated within twelve months following a Change in Control of the Company (as defined in the employment agreement). If a Change in Control occurs within the first twelve months of employment and Mr. Penver s employment is terminated within twelve months of that Change in Control, we will continue paying Mr. Penver his base salary commencing on the date of termination and ending three months from the date of termination.

Retirement Plans 30

Employment Agreement with Martin T. Olsen

On January 14, 2014, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Olsen. Under that employment agreement, Mr. Olsen s annual base salary is \$250,000, and he is eligible to receive a bonus in an amount and on terms established by the Company s Board of Directors. Mr. Olsen is entitled to receive vacation, health insurance, and other benefits generally made available to the Company s other executives. If the Company terminates Mr. Olsen s employment other than for Cause (as defined in the employment agreement) or Mr. Olsen terminates his employment for a Good Reason, the Company will continue paying Mr. Olsen his

base salary commencing on the date of termination and ending (a) six months from the date of termination, or (b) twelve months from the date of termination if the termination of employment is terminated within twelve months following a Change in Control of the Company (as defined in the employment agreement).

Director Compensation

We compensate each of our non-employee directors an annual retainer of \$45,000. The Chairman of our Board of Directors receives an annual retainer of \$25,000, the Chairman of the Audit Committee receives an annual retainer of \$10,000, and the Chairman of the Compensation Committee received an annual retainer of \$5,000.

In 2012, non-employee directors were each granted options to purchase 150,000 shares of our common stock. These options vest over a three-year period.

We also reimburse our directors for travel, lodging and other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in connection with the attendance at Board, committees, and stockholder meetings, as well as for other reasonable expenses related to service on the Board. We do not maintain any pension, nonqualified defined contribution or other deferred compensation plans for our non-employee directors. The following table summarizes compensation earned by our non-employee directors during fiscal year 2014.

		Fees earned		
	Nome	or	Total	
	Name	paid in cash	(\$)	
		(\$)		
	Peter H. Woodward	\$ 80,000	\$ 80,000	
	Daniel J. Phelps	50,000	50,000	
15	-			

REPORT OF AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists entirely of directors who meet the independence and experience requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market, has furnished the following report:

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in overseeing and monitoring the integrity of our financial reporting process, compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the quality of internal and external audit processes. This committee is role and responsibilities are set forth in a charter adopted by the Board of Directors, which is available on our website at www.totalsitesolutions.com. This committee reviews and reassesses our charter annually and recommends any changes to the Board of Directors for approval. The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing our overall financial reporting process, and for the appointment, compensation, retention, and oversight of the work of our independent registered public accounting firm. In fulfilling its responsibilities for the financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, the Audit Committee took the following actions:

Reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 with management and Grant Thornton LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm;

Discussed with Grant Thornton LLP the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended, as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T, relating to the conduct of the audit; and

Received written disclosures and the letter from Grant Thornton LLP regarding its independence as required by applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding Grant Thornton LLP communications with the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee further discussed with Grant Thornton LLP their independence. The Audit Committee also considered the status of pending litigation, taxation matters and other areas of oversight relating to the financial reporting and audit process that the committee determined appropriate.

Based on the Audit Committee s review of the audited financial statements and discussions with management and Grant Thornton LLP, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 for filing with the SEC.

Members of the Audit Committee: Peter H. Woodward (Chairman) Daniel J. Phelps

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Our executive officers, directors and 10% stockholders are required under Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Copies of these reports must also be furnished to us. Based solely on our review of copies of reports furnished to us, or written representations that no reports were required, we believe that during 2014 our executive officers, directors and 10% stockholders complied with all filing requirements of Section 16(a) in a timely manner.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Our Audit Committee in accordance with its written charter reviews and approves in advance all related party transactions greater than \$25,000 and follows a pre-approved process for contracts with a related party for less than \$25,000.

We lease our facility in Columbia, Maryland from an entity that is 50% owned by Gerard Gallagher, a director and our Chief Technical Officer, and Thomas P. Rosato, our former Chief Executive Officer and director and a significant stockholder of the Company until February 28, 2014. This lease expires in July 2016. Rent paid under this lease was \$277,000 for both of the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

We also paid \$36,000 and \$128,000 in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, to another entity owned by Mr. Rosato and his family under a lease agreement for office and warehouse space. That lease was terminated in May 2013 and we continue to rent warehouse space only on a monthly basis.

We have \$750,000 outstanding at December 31, 2014 in convertible notes payable to Mr. Gallagher. The notes bear interest at 4% per annum and are subordinated to our borrowings to Bridge Bank under our revolving credit facility. Per the terms of the notes, we paid interest of \$30,000 and \$17,000 during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. We repaid principal against the Notes of \$200,000 and \$1.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

PROPOSALS TO BE VOTED UPON BY STOCKHOLDERS

ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

(Notice Item 1)

Our Board of Directors has nominated Mr. Gerard J. Gallagher for election at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders for a term of three years to serve until the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and until his successor has been elected and qualified, or until his earlier death, resignation or removal.

The Board of Directors currently consists of five members, classified into three classes as follows:

Mr. Gerard J. Gallagher constitutes a class with a term ending at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders; Mr. Anthony Angelini constitutes a class with a term ending at the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders; and Messrs. Peter H. Woodward and Daniel J. Phelps constitute a class with a term ending at the 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

At each Annual Meeting of Stockholders, directors are elected for a full term of three years to succeed those directors whose terms are expiring. Any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the directors.

The Board of Directors has nominated Mr. Gallagher for election at the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders for a term of three years to serve until the 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and until his successor is elected and qualified, or until his earlier death, resignation or removal. The Class II director, Mr. Angelini, and the Class III directors, Messrs. Woodward and Phelps, serve until the Annual Meetings of Stockholders to be held in 2016 and 2017, respectively, and until their respective successors have been elected and qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal.

Unless authority to vote for this nominee is withheld, the shares represented by the enclosed proxy will be voted **FOR** the election of Mr. Gallagher. If Mr. Gallagher becomes unable or unwilling to serve, the shares represented by the enclosed proxy will be voted for the election of such other person as the Board of Directors may recommend in his place. We have no reason to believe that Mr. Gallagher will be unable or unwilling to serve as a director.

A plurality of the shares voted affirmatively at the annual meeting is required to elect the nominee as a director.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THE ELECTION OF MR. GERARD J. GALLAGHER AS DIRECTOR, AND PROXIES SOLICITED BY THE BOARD WILL BE VOTED IN FAVOR THEREOF UNLESS A STOCKHOLDER HAS INDICATED OTHERWISE ON THE PROXY.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ADOPTION OF 2015 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

(Notice Item 2)

The Board of Directors recommends that stockholders approve the adoption of the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan. Upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the plan, subject to stockholder approval at the annual meeting.

The purpose of the plan is to optimize the profitability and growth of the Company through incentives that are consistent with our goals and align the personal interests of plan participants with an incentive for individual performance. The plan is further intended to assist the Company in motivating, attracting and retaining plan participants and allowing them to share in Company successes. Following its adoption and as described below, this plan will be the only plan under which we award equity-based compensation.

As of April 29, 2015, 5,541 shares of common stock were available for future grants under our 2006 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the 2006 Plan). The 2006 Plan expires in January 2017. Notwithstanding that expiration date, no awards will be made under the 2006 Plan if the new plan is approved by the annual meeting. The following description of the plan describes the material terms of the plan but does not purport to describe all the terms of the plan. The complete text of the plan, as amended, is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement and is incorporated by reference into this proxy statement. We encourage all stockholders to read the plan in its entirety.

Summary of the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

Administration. The plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee will determine who participates in the plan, the size and type of awards under the plan and the conditions applicable to the awards.

Eligibility. Those persons eligible to participate in the plan are officers and other key employees of the company and our subsidiaries and our non-employee directors. As of April 29, 2015, two non-employee directors, four executive officers and approximately 93 employees are eligible to receive grants under the plan.

Shares Subject to the Plan. If the stockholders approve the proposal to amend the plan, an additional 2,500,000 shares of our common stock, or approximately 16% of the shares outstanding as of April 29, 2015, will be available for future grants under the plan. In addition, any shares available for issuance under the 2006 Plan as of the date of the annual meeting will be available for further grants under the new plan. Any shares tendered or withheld to pay taxes or a stock option s exercise price for awards made under the 2006 Plan or the new plan are available for future grants under the plan.

Stock Options. Stock option awards may be granted in the form of non-statutory stock options or incentive stock options. Options are exercisable in whole or in such installments as may be determined by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee establishes the exercise price of stock options, which exercise price may not be less than the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of the grant. The exercise price is payable in cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and common stock.

Stock options granted in the form of incentive stock options are also subject to certain additional limitations, as provided in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Incentive stock options may be made only to employees, and the aggregate fair market value of common stock with respect to which incentive stock options may become exercisable by an employee in any calendar year may not exceed \$100,000. In addition, incentive stock options may not be exercised after ten years from the grant date and any incentive stock option granted to an employee who owns shares of our common stock possessing more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of our shares must have an option price that is at least 110% of the fair market value of the shares and may not be exercisable after five years from the date of grant.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock appreciation rights are granted pursuant to stock appreciation rights awards on terms set by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee determines the grant price for a stock appreciation right, except that unless otherwise designated by the Compensation Committee, the strike price of a stock appreciation right granted as a freestanding award will not be less than 100% of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the date of grant. Upon exercise of a stock appreciation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

right, we will pay the participant an amount equal to the excess of the aggregate fair market value of our common stock on the date of exercise over the grant price. The Compensation Committee determines the term of stock appreciation rights granted under the plan, but unless otherwise designated by the Compensation Committee stock appreciation rights are not exercisable after the expiration of ten years from the date of grant. For each award of stock appreciation rights, the Compensation Committee will determine the extent to which the award recipient may exercise the stock appreciation rights after that recipient service relationship with us ceases.

Restricted Stock Awards. The Compensation Committee may grant restricted stock awards, which will be subject to such terms, conditions, restrictions or limitations as the Compensation Committee may determine are appropriate, including restrictions on transferability, requirements of continued employment or individual performance, or our financial performance. Unless otherwise designated by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant, recipients of restricted shares may exercise full voting rights with respect to those restricted shares and received regular cash dividends paid with respect to the underlying shares of common stock during the period in which those shares are subject to restrictions.

Performance Shares/Units. The Compensation Committee may grant performance shares or units subject to such terms, conditions, restrictions or limitations as the Compensation Committee may determine are appropriate. Performance units will be assigned an initial value established by the Compensation Committee and performance shares will be assigned an initial value equal to the per share fair market value of our common stock on the date of the grant. The Compensation Committee will set performance goals in its discretion and the number and value of the payout for the performance shares/units will be determined based on the extent to which those performance goals are met. Payouts for performance shares/units may be payable in cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and common stock. The Compensation Committee may assign rights to performance shares/units that entitle the recipient to receive any dividends declared with respect to shares of common stock earned in connection with grants of performance shares/units. The Compensation Committee may also allow the recipient to exercise voting rights with respect to those shares.

Other Awards. The Compensation Committee may grant other awards to employees or non-employee directors in amounts and on terms determined by the Compensation Committee, including restricted stock units. A recipient of restricted stock units is entitled to receive shares of our common stock upon any terms and conditions imposed by the Compensation Committee. Unless otherwise designated by the Compensation Committee, the recipient of restricted stock units has no rights as a stockholder, including voting and dividend rights.

Change in Control. Upon the occurrence of a change in control of the Company (as defined in the plan):

stock options and/or stock appreciation rights not otherwise exercisable will become fully exercisable; all restrictions previously established with respect to restricted stock awards will lapse; and all performance shares/units or other awards will be deemed to be fully earned for the entire performance period applicable to them.

The vesting of all of these awards will be accelerated as of the effective date of the change in control.

Transferability. Except as explicitly set forth in an award agreement, the rights and interests of a participant under the plan may not be transferred, except by will or the applicable laws of descent and distribution in the event of the death of the participant.

Adjustments upon Changes in Capitalization. The number of shares of our common stock as to which awards may be granted under the plan and shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards will be appropriately adjusted to reflect changes in our capitalization, including stock splits, stock dividends, mergers, reorganizations, consolidations

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Amendments. The Board of Directors may suspend or terminate the plan at any time, except that no modification or termination of the plan may adversely affect in any material way any award previously granted under the plan without the written consent of the person holding that award.

Plan Benefits.

Awards under the plan to our non-employee directors, executive officers, and employees are discretionary and are not subject to set benefits or amounts, and the Compensation Committee has not approved any awards that are conditioned on stockholder approval of the plan. Accordingly, we cannot currently determine the benefits or number of shares subject to awards that may be granted in the future to our non-employee directors, executive officers, or employees under the plan.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides certain aggregate information with respect to the Company s equity compensation plan in effect as of December 31, 2014.

Plan category	Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights	of out opt wa	eighted-average ercise price tstanding tions, arrants and this	Number of securities remaining available age for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in the first column)
Equity compensation plan approved by security holders ⁽¹⁾	1,450,000	\$.45	670,541
Equity compensation plan not approved by security holders ⁽²⁾	880,000		.51	

(1) Represents awards granted under the 2006 Plan.

Represents 200,000 options granted to Mr. Olsen in connection with his becoming our Executive Vice President Sales & Marketing on January 14, 2014, 200,000 options granted to Mr. Penver in connection with his becoming our Chief Financial Officer on August 29, 2014 and 480,000 options granted to employees in connection with the acquisition of our systems integration business on June 5, 2013.

Certain Tax Consequences of the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan

The following discussion of the federal income tax consequences of the plan is based on the Internal Revenue Code provisions currently in effect, current regulations, and administrative rulings of the IRS. The discussion is limited to

the tax consequences on United States citizens and does not consider the potential impact of state tax laws. It is not intended to be a complete discussion of all of the United States income tax consequences of the plan or of all of the requirements that must be satisfied to qualify for the tax treatment described in this discussion. Changes in the law and the regulations may modify the discussion, and, in some cases, changes may be retroactive. In addition, tax consequences may vary depending upon the personal circumstances of individual participants and the tax requirements applicable to residents of countries other than the United States.

Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights. A stock option holder will not recognize income upon the grant of a stock option, or at any other time prior to the exercise of the stock option. Upon exercise of a non-qualified stock option, the holder will recognize compensation taxable as ordinary income in an amount equal to the sum of the excess of the fair market value of the common stock on the date the stock option is exercised over the exercise price of the common stock. This income is subject to withholding and other employment taxes. We will be entitled to a deduction in a like amount for compensation recognized by the holder. The ordinary income recognized upon exercise of the stock option will constitute personal service income for purposes of federal income taxes.

A subsequent taxable disposition of shares of common stock acquired upon exercise of a non-qualified stock option and held as a capital asset will result in a capital gain or loss measured by the difference between the fair market value of the stock on the date the stock option was exercised and the amount realized on later

TABLE OF CONTENTS

disposition. The gain or loss will be long-term if the shares of common stock are held for more than 12 months and short-term if held for 12 months or less.

A holder will not recognize income upon the grant or exercise of an incentive stock option if no disposition of the common stock acquired upon exercise of the stock option is made within two years from the date the stock option was granted or within one year after the transfer of common stock to the holder, and if at all times during the period beginning on the date the stock option was granted and ending on the day three months before the date of exercise the holder was an employee of the company. The difference between the fair market value of the common stock on the date of exercise and the exercise price, however, is an item of tax preference for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. If a holder who has acquired shares of common stock by the exercise of an incentive stock option makes a taxable disposition of the stock after satisfying the holding period requirements, the holder generally will recognize long-term capital gain or loss measured by the difference between the exercise price and the selling price. If the holding period requirements are satisfied, there is no compensation income attributable to an incentive stock option, and we will not be entitled to any deduction.

If a holder who has acquired shares of common stock by the exercise of an incentive stock option makes a taxable disposition of the stock within two years from the date the stock option was granted or within one year after the transfer of the stock to the holder, a disqualifying disposition occurs. In that event, the holder recognizes ordinary income equal to the lesser of the actual gain or the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value of the common stock on the date of exercise. This income is subject to withholding and other employment taxes. We will be entitled to a deduction in like amount for compensation recognized by the holder. If a loss is sustained on the disposition, the loss will generally be treated as a capital loss. If the amount received on the disqualifying disposition exceeds the fair market value of the common stock on the date of exercise, the excess will generally be either a long-term or short-term capital gain.

A holder will not recognize income upon the grant of a stock appreciation right or at any other time prior to the exercise of the stock appreciation right. Upon exercise of the stock appreciation right, the holder will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the stock appreciation right payment (or, if the stock appreciation right is settled in common stock, equal to the fair market value of the common stock received). All such income is subject to withholding and other employment taxes. We will be entitled to a deduction in like amount for compensation recognized by the holder. Upon a subsequent taxable disposition of shares received upon exercise of a stock appreciation right, the holder will recognize a long-term or short-term capital gain or loss measured by the difference between the selling price of the shares and the fair market value of the shares on the date of exercise.

Restricted Stock Awards. An employee will recognize ordinary compensation income in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares subject to the grant of restricted stock at the time the restricted stock ceases to be subject to forfeiture. Dividends paid to an employee on the shares of restricted stock are treated as compensation income of the employee in the year received. The employee s holding period for long-term capital gains purposes will not begin to run until the stock is unrestricted. Subject to the limitations on deductibility contained in Section 162(m) of the Code, we will receive a deduction for federal income tax purposes equal to the compensation income recognized by the employee.

Performance Shares/Units. Because performance share or unit awards generally do not vest until the performance goals are satisfied, a participant receiving a grant of performance shares/units does not have compensation includable in his or her gross income for federal income tax purposes at the time the performance shares/units are granted. The participant, however, realizes ordinary income for federal income tax purposes in the year in which the performance shares/units are settled in shares of common stock or cash in an amount equal to the fair market value of a number of shares of common stock corresponding to the number of the performance shares/units. Any cash dividend equivalents

received on the performance shares/units prior to settlement are ordinary compensation income in the year received. We generally are entitled to a deduction in the amount and for the period in which a participant realizes compensation income with respect to the performance shares/units, subject to the limitations under Section 162(m) of the Code.

Section 409A of the Code. Section 409A of the Code applies to certain nonqualified deferred compensation and would impose adverse consequences if an award under the plan is neither exempt from,

TABLE OF CONTENTS

nor compliant with, the requirements of Section 409A. Such adverse consequences include, but are not limited to, immediate income inclusion of the ordinary income that would be recognized if the awards are exercised at the date of vesting, a 20% tax on the amount to be included in income, and interest at a penalty rate. However, the plan has been designed such that that any awards granted under the plan will exempt from Section 409A, and we intend that any awards granted under the plan will be exempt from or structured to comply with Section 409A.

Required Vote

The plan proposal to adopt the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan must be approved by the affirmative vote of the majority of shares of our common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote on the proposal.

Recommendation

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT THE STOCKHOLDERS VOTE FOR THE PROPOSAL TO ADOPT THE 2015 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN, AND PROXIES SOLICITED BY THE BOARD WILL BE VOTED IN FAVOR THEREOF UNLESS A STOCKHOLDER HAS INDICATED OTHERWISE ON THE PROXY.

23

Required Vote 44

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

(Notice Item 3)

The Audit Committee has appointed Grant Thornton LLP (Grant Thornton) as our independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015. The Board proposes that the stockholders ratify the appointment. Grant Thornton audited our financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014, and 2013. We expect that representatives of Grant Thornton will be present at the meeting, will be able to make a statement if they so desire, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Changes in Certifying Accountant

On September 17, 2013, we notified Grant Thornton that we were was dismissing Grant Thornton as our independent registered public accounting firm. We engaged McGladrey LLP (McGladrey) as our independent registered public accounting firm for the third quarter ended September 30, 2013, and our fiscal year ended December 31, 2013. The decision to dismiss Grant Thornton and to engage McGladrey was approved by the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors on September 16, 2013.

The reports of Grant Thornton on our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ending December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, and was not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During those two fiscal years and the subsequent interim periods through the date of dismissal, there were no disagreements with Grant Thornton on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Grant Thornton, would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in connection with its reports on the financial statements for those periods. For the years ended December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, and through September 17, 2013, there were no reportable events as that term is described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

During 2012, McGladrey provided certain consultation services to us relating to the valuation of stock options using a Monte Carlo simulation. Except as set forth above, during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2012, and December 31, 2011, and through September 17, 2013, neither we, nor anyone acting on our behalf, consulted with McGladrey with respect to (1) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that would have been rendered on our consolidated financial statements, and neither a written report nor oral advice was provided that McGladrey concluded was an important factor considered by us in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue; or (2) any matters that were either the subject of a disagreement (as that term is used in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions to Item 304 of Regulation S-K) or a reportable event (as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).

McGladrey resigned as our independent registered public accounting firm on January 13, 2014. McGladrey had not issued any audit reports on our financial statements. During the period of time that McGladrey served as our independent registered public accounting firm, there were no disagreements with McGladrey on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of McGladrey, would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the

disagreements in connection with any report on our financial statements for the relevant period. During the period of time that McGladrey served as our independent registered public accounting firm, there were no reportable events as that term is described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

We engaged Grant Thornton as our independent registered public accounting firm on February 10, 2014. Grant Thornton had previously served as our independent registered public accounting firm from April 20, 2007, until September 17, 2013. In its role as our independent registered public accounting firm, Grant Thornton issued an audit opinion on our consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). The report of Grant Thornton on our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012, did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, and was not

TABLE OF CONTENTS

qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During our fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, and the subsequent interim periods through September 17, 2013, there were no disagreements with Grant Thornton on any matters of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure, which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Grant Thornton, would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements in connection with its reports on the financial statements for those periods. For the year ended December 31, 2012, and through September 17, 2013, there were no reportable events as that term is described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

During the period subsequent to September 17, 2013, and to the engagement of Grant Thornton on February 10, 2014, we did not consult with Grant Thornton, regarding either: (1) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on our financial statements, and neither a written report nor oral advice was provided that Grant Thornton concluded was an important factor considered by us in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or (2) any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement (as that term is used in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions to Item 304 of Regulation S-K) or a reportable event (as described in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).

Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The following table presents fees for professional audit services rendered by Grant Thornton during the years ended December 31, 2014, and 2013, respectively, and fees billed for other services rendered by Grant Thornton during those periods.

	2014	2013
Audit fees	\$ 348,250	\$ 266,810
Audit-related fees	22,500	21,000
Total	\$ 370,750	\$ 287,810

Audit Fees

Audit fees consisted of professional services rendered by Grant Thornton for the audit of the annual consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the reviews of the consolidated quarterly financial statements included in our Forms 10-Q and assistance and review of such documents filed with the SEC.

Audit-Related Fees

Audit-related fees consisted principally of fees for professional services associated with the audits of our 401(k) plan. We paid Grant Thornton \$22,500 and \$21,000 in 2014 and 2013, respectively, in connection with the audit of our 401(k) plan.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-audit Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Audit and Non-Audit Fees 47

Consistent with policies of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding auditor independence, the Audit Committee has responsibility, pursuant to its written charter, for appointing, setting compensation and overseeing the work of the independent registered public accounting firm. In recognition of this responsibility, the Audit Committee pre-approves all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee s policy is to approve all audit and non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm prior to the commencement of the services using a combination of pre-approvals for certain engagements up to predetermined dollar thresholds in accordance with the pre-approval policy and specific approvals for certain engagements on a case-by-case basis. The Audit Committee has delegated authority to the committee s chairman to pre-approve between committee meetings those services that have not already been pre-approved by the committee. The chairman of the Audit Committee is required to report any such pre-approval decisions to the full committee at its next scheduled meeting.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves these services by category of service. The fees are budgeted and the Audit Committee requires the independent registered public accounting firm and management to report actual fees versus the budget periodically throughout the year by category of service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become necessary to engage the independent registered public accounting firm for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval. In those instances, the Audit Committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The member to whom such authority is delegated must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present or represented and entitled to vote at the annual meeting is required to ratify the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm. If the stockholders do not ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm, the Audit Committee will reconsider its appointment.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE TO RATIFY THE SELECTION OF GRANT THORNTON LLP AS INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM, AND PROXIES SOLICITED BY THE BOARD WILL BE VOTED IN FAVOR OF SUCH RATIFICATION UNLESS A STOCKHOLDER INDICATES OTHERWISE ON THE PROXY.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all of our employees, including our chief executive officer and chief financial and accounting officers. The text of the code of conduct and ethics is posted on our website at www.totalsitesolutions.com. The code of ethics is also available to stockholders, without charge, upon request in writing to our Secretary at 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, TX 78664. Disclosure regarding any amendments to, or waivers from, provisions of the code of ethics that apply to our directors, principal executive and financial officers will be included in a Current Report on Form 8-K within four business days following the date of the amendment or waiver.

OTHER MATTERS

The Board of Directors knows of no other business that will be presented to the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. If any other business is properly brought before the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, proxies in the enclosed form will be voted in accordance with the judgment of the persons voting the proxies.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

Proposals of stockholders intended for inclusion in the proxy statement relating to our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be furnished to all stockholders entitled to vote at our next annual meeting must be received at our principal executive offices no later than December 31, 2015; provided, however, that in the event that we hold our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders more than 30 days before or after the one-year anniversary date of the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we will disclose the new deadline by which stockholders proposals must be received in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. In addition, stockholder proposals must otherwise comply with the requirements of Rule 14a-8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In accordance with our Amended and Restated Bylaws, to be considered for inclusion in the proxy statement relating to our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in 2016, stockholder proposals must be delivered to or mailed and received at our principal executive offices not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the meeting; provided, however, that in the event that less than 75 days notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting is given or made to the stockholders, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so received no later than the close of business on the fifteenth day following the day on which such notice of the date of the meeting was mailed or such public disclosure was made, whichever first occurs, Proposals received after that date will not be voted on at the annual meeting. If a proposal is received before that date, the proxies that management solicits for the meeting may still exercise discretionary voting authority on the proposal under circumstances consistent with the proxy rules of the SEC. All stockholder proposals should be marked for the attention of Chief Executive Officer, TSS, Inc., 110 E. Old Settlers Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664.

ROUND ROCK, TEXAS April 30, 2015

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 (other than exhibits thereto) filed with the SEC, which provides additional information about us, is available on the Internet at www.totalsitesolutions.com and is available in printed copy to beneficial owners of our common stock without charge upon written request to Mr. John K. Penver, Chief Financial Officer, TSS, Inc., 110 E. Old Settlers

Blvd, Round Rock, Texas 78664. Exhibits will be provided upon written request and payment of an appropriate processing fee.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TSS, INC.

2015 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN ARTICLE ONE ESTABLISHMENT, OBJECTIVES AND DURATION

1.1 ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PLAN. TSS, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the *Company*), hereby adopts the TSS, Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan as set forth in this document, and as the same may be amended from time to time (the *Plan*). The Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors of the Company on April 14, 2015 as a successor to the Fortress America Acquisition Corporation 2006 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the *2006 Plan*). The Plan shall become effective, subject to the approval of the stockholders of the Company, as of the date (the *Effective Date*) on which the Plan is approved by the stockholders of the Company. No awards will be made under the 2006 Plan after the Effective Date of this Plan.

1.2 OBJECTIVES OF THE PLAN. The objectives of the Plan are to optimize the profitability and growth of the Company through incentives which are consistent with the Company s goals and which link and align the personal interests of Participants with an incentive for excellence in individual performance, and to promote teamwork.

The Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract and retain the services of Participants who make significant contributions to the Company success and to allow Participants to share in the success of the Company.

Toward these objectives, the Plan permits the grant of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Performance Shares and Performance Units, and Other Incentive Awards.

1.3 DURATION OF THE PLAN. The Plan shall commence on the Effective Date, as described in Section 1.1 hereof, and shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Board of Directors to amend or terminate the Plan at any time pursuant to Article 15 hereof, until all Shares subject to it shall have been purchased or acquired according to the Plan s provisions. However, in no event may an Award be granted under the Plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the Effective Date.

ARTICLE TWO DEFINITIONS

Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below, and when the meaning is intended, the initial letter of the word shall be capitalized:

Award means, individually or collectively, a grant under this Plan or the 2006 Plan of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Performance Shares or Performance Units, or Other Incentive Awards.

Award Agreement means an agreement entered into by the Company and each Participant setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to Awards granted under this Plan.

Beneficial Owner or Beneficial Ownership shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act.

Board or Board of Directors means the Board of Directors of the Company.

Change in Control of the Company means any one or more of the following:

(a) The Company is merged, consolidated or reorganized into or with another corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, or other legal person (collectively referred herein as a *Business Entity*), and immediately after such merger, consolidation, or reorganization less than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the then-outstanding securities of such Business Entity immediately after such transaction are held in the aggregate by the holders of voting stock of the Company immediately prior to such transaction;

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- (b) The Company sells all or substantially all of its assets to any other Business Entity, and less than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the then-outstanding securities of such Business Entity immediately after such sale are held in the aggregate by the holders of voting stock of the Company immediately prior to such sale; or
- (c) Any person (as the term person is used in Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act) or group of persons acting in concert has become the beneficial owner (as the term beneficial owner is defined under Rule 13d-3 or any successor rule or regulation promulgated under the Exchange Act) of securities representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting stock of the Company.

Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

Committee means the Compensation Committee of the Board, as specified in Article 3 herein, or such other Committee appointed by the Board to administer the Plan with respect to grants of Awards.

Common Stock means the common stock of the Company.

Company means TSS, Inc., a Delaware corporation, as well as any successor to the Company as provided in Article 18 herein.

Director means any individual who is a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.

Disability means the inability of a Participant to engage in any substantially gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that is expected to result in death or has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of twelve (12) months or more. A determination that a Participant is disabled shall be made by the Committee on the basis of such medical evidence as the Committee deems warranted under the circumstances.

Effective Date shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 1.1 hereof.

Employee means any employee of the Company or any Subsidiary. Nonemployee Directors shall not be considered Employees under this Plan unless specifically designated otherwise.

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or any successor act thereto.

Fair Market Value shall be the fair market value of a share of Common Stock, as determined in good faith by the Committee.

Freestanding SAR means an SAR that is granted independently of any Options, as described in Article 7 herein.

Incentive Stock Option or *ISO* means an option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 herein and which is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and which is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 422.

Nonemployee *Director* means an individual who is a member of the Board of Directors of the Company but who is not an Employee of the Company or a Subsidiary.

Nonqualified Stock Option or NQSO means an option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 herein and which is not intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 422.

Option means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option, as described in Article 6 herein.

Option Price means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Participant pursuant to an Option.

Other Incentive Award means an award granted pursuant to Article 10 hereof.

Participant means an individual who has outstanding an Award granted under the Plan.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Performance Period means the time period during which performance goals must be achieved with respect to an Award, as determined by the Committee.

Performance Share means an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 9 herein.

Performance Unit means an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 9 herein.

Period of Restriction means the period during which the transfer of Shares of Restricted Stock is limited in some way (based on the passage of time, the achievement of performance goals, and/or upon the occurrence of other events as determined by the Committee at its discretion), and the Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, as provided in Article 8 herein.

Person shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a) (9) of the Exchange Act and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a group as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

Restricted Stock means an Award granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8 herein.

Shares means the shares of common stock of the Company.

Share Pool means the number of shares authorized for issuance under Section 4.1, as adjusted for awards and payouts under Section 4.2 and as adjusted for changes in corporate capitalization under Section 4.3.

Stock Appreciation Right or SAR means an Award, granted alone or in connection with a related Option, designated as an SAR, pursuant to the terms of Article 7 herein.

Subsidiary means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, affiliate or other entity in which the Company has a majority voting interest, and which the Committee designates as a participating entity in the Plan.

2006 Plan means the Fortress America Acquisition Corporation 2006 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan.

Tandem SAR means an SAR that is granted in connection with a related Option pursuant to Article 7 herein, the exercise of which shall require forfeiture of the right to purchase a Share under the related Option (and when a Share is purchased under the Option, the Tandem SAR shall similarly be canceled).

ARTICLE THREE ADMINISTRATION

- 3.1 THE COMMITTEE. The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board or by any other Committee appointed by the Board. The members of the Committee shall be appointed from time to time by, and shall serve at the discretion of, the Board of Directors.
- 3.2 AUTHORITY OF THE COMMITTEE. Except as limited by law or by the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company, and subject to the provisions herein, the Committee shall have full power to select the individuals who shall participate in the Plan; determine the sizes and types of Awards; determine the terms and conditions of Awards in a manner consistent with the Plan; construe and interpret the Plan and any agreement or instrument entered into under the plan; establish, amend or waive rules and regulations for the Plan s administration; and (subject to the

provisions of Article 15 herein) amend the terms and conditions of any outstanding Award to the extent such terms and conditions are within the discretion of the Committee as provided in the Plan. Further, the Committee shall make all other determinations which may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. As permitted by law, the Committee may delegate its authority as identified herein.

3.3 DECISIONS BINDING. All determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and all related orders and resolutions of the Board shall be final, conclusive and binding on all persons, including the Company, its stockholders, Employees, Participants and their estates and beneficiaries.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE FOUR SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN AND MAXIMUM AWARDS

- 4.1 NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR GRANTS. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.3 herein, the number of Shares hereby reserved for issuance under the Plan shall be equal to the sum of (a) [] plus (b) the number of unallocated Shares available for issuance as of the Effective Date under the 2006 Plan that are not then subject to outstanding Awards. The Committee shall determine the appropriate methodology for calculating the number of Shares issued pursuant to the Plan.
- 4.2 LAPSED AWARDS. If any Award granted under this Plan or the 2006 Plan is canceled, forfeited, terminates, expires, lapses or is settled in cash (with the exception of the termination of a Tandem SAR upon exercise of the related Option, or the termination of a related Option upon exercise of the corresponding Tandem SAR), any Shares subject to such Award shall again be available for the grant of an Award under the Plan.
- 4.3 ADJUSTMENTS IN AUTHORIZED SHARES. In the event that Shares are withheld by or surrendered to the Company in payment of the exercise price of any Award or in payment of any tax withholding that arises in connection with any Award, such shares shall again be available for the grant of an Award under the Plan. In the event of any change following Board adoption of the Plan (including any such change prior to the Effective Date) in corporate capitalization, such as a stock split, or a corporate transaction, such as any merger, consolidation, separation, including a spin-off, or other distribution of stock or property of the Company, any reorganization (whether or not such reorganization comes within the definition of such term in Code Section 368), or any partial or complete liquidation of the Company, such adjustment shall be made in the number and class of Shares available in the Share Pool and in the number and class of and/or price of Shares subject to outstanding Awards granted under the Plan, as may be determined to be appropriate and equitable by the Committee, in its sole discretion, to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights; *provided, however*, that the number of Shares subject to any Award shall always be a whole number.

ARTICLE FIVE ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

- 5.1 ELIGIBILITY. Persons eligible to participate in this Plan include (a) all officers and key employees and service providers of the Company or a Subsidiary, as determined by the Committee, including Employees who are members of the Board, (b) prospective officers, key employees and service providers who have accepted offers of employment or other service relationship from the Company or a Subsidiary and (c) all Nonemployee Directors. Any Awards that are granted in connection with hiring, recruiting or otherwise prior to the date the individual first perform services for the Company or a Subsidiary shall not become vested or exercisable, and no Shares shall be issued to such individual, prior to the date the individual first commences performance of such services.
- 5.2 ACTUAL PARTICIPATION. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may, from time to time, select from all eligible individuals those to whom Awards shall be granted and shall determine the nature and amount of each Award.

ARTICLE SIX STOCK OPTIONS

6.1 GRANT OF OPTIONS. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Options may be granted, either by the Committee or the Board, to one or more Participants in such number, and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee. The Committee or the Board shall have the authority to grant Incentive Stock Options or to grant Nonqualified Stock Options or to grant both types of Options. In the case of Incentive Stock Options, the terms and conditions of such grants shall be subject to, and comply with, such rules as may be prescribed by Section 422 of the Code, as from time to time amended, and any regulations implementing such statute, including, without limitation, the requirements of Code Section 422(d) which limit the aggregate Fair Market Value of Shares (determined at the time that such Option is granted) for which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time to \$100,000 per calendar year, and the requirement that Incentive Stock Options may only be granted to Employees. Each

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- provision of the Plan and of each written Award Agreement relating to an Option designated as an Incentive Stock Option shall be construed so that, to the extent possible, such Option qualifies as an Incentive Stock Option.
- 6.2 AWARD AGREEMENT. Each Option grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Option Price, the duration of the Option, the number of Shares to which the Option pertains, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine. The Award Agreement also shall specify whether the Option is intended to be an ISO or an NOSO.
- 6.3 OPTION PRICE. The Option Price for each grant of an Option under this Plan shall be at least equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the Option is granted. Notwithstanding any provision contained herein, in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the exercise price at the time such Incentive Stock Option is granted to any Employee who, at the time of such grant, owns (within the meaning of Section 424(d) of the Code) more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or a Subsidiary, shall not be less than 110% of the per Share Fair Market Value on the date of grant.
- 6.4 DURATION OF OPTIONS. Each Option shall expire at such time as the Committee shall determine at the time of grant; provided, however, that in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, an Employee may not exercise such Incentive Stock Option after the date which is ten years (five years in the case of a Participant who owns more than ten percent of the voting power of the Company or a Subsidiary) after the date on which such Incentive Stock Option is granted.
- 6.5 EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercisable at such times and be subject to such restrictions and conditions as the Committee shall in each instance approve, which need not be the same for each grant or for each Participant.
- 6.6 PAYMENT. Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercised by the delivery of a written notice of exercise to the Company, setting forth the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is to be exercised, accompanied by full payment for the Shares.

The Option Price upon exercise of any Option shall be payable to the Company in full either: (a) in cash or its equivalent, or (b) at the discretion of the Committee, by either tendering previously acquired Shares or by withholding shares otherwise issuable pursuant to the exercise, in either case having an aggregate Fair Market Value at the time of exercise equal to the total Option Price, or (c) by a combination of (a) and (b).

As soon as practicable after receipt of a written notification of exercise and full payment, the Company shall deliver to the Participant, in the Participant s name, Share certificates in an appropriate amount based upon the number of Shares purchased under the Option(s).

- 6.7 RESTRICTIONS ON SHARE TRANSFERABILITY. The Committee may impose such restrictions on any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option granted under this Article 6 as it may deem advisable, including, without limitation, restrictions under applicable federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which such Shares are then listed and/or traded, and under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to such Shares.
- 6.8 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Each Option Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the Option following termination of the Participant s employment with (or service to) the Company and/or its Subsidiaries. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among

all Options issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination of employment or service.

6.9 NONTRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS.

(a) INCENTIVE STOCK OPTIONS. No ISO granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, all ISOs granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(b) NON-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, no NQSO granted under this Article 6 may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, all NQSOs granted to a Participant under this Article 6 shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.

6.10 LIMITATION ON RELOAD OPTIONS. The Committee shall not grant Options under this Plan that contain a reload or replenishment feature pursuant to which a new Option would be granted automatically upon receipt of delivery of Common Stock to the Company in payment of the exercise price or any tax withholding obligation under any other stock option.

ARTICLE SEVEN STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

7.1 GRANT OF SARs. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, SARs may be granted to Participants at any time and from time as shall be determined by the Committee. The Committee may grant Freestanding SARs, Tandem SARs, or any combination of these forms of SAR.

The Committee shall have complete discretion in determining the number of SARs granted to each Participant (subject to Article 4 herein) and, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, in determining the terms and conditions pertaining to such SARs.

Unless otherwise designated by the Committee at the time of grant, the grant price of a Freestanding SAR shall equal the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant of the SAR. The grant price of Tandem SARs shall equal the Option Price of the related Option.

7.2 EXERCISE OF TANDEM SARs. Tandem SARs may be exercised for all or part of the Shares subject to the related Option upon the surrender of the right to exercise the equivalent portion of the related Option. A Tandem SAR may be exercised only with respect to the Shares for which its related Option is then exercisable.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, with respect to a Tandem SAR granted in connection with an ISO: (i) the Tandem SAR will expire no later than the expiration of the underlying ISO; (ii) the value of the payout with respect to the Tandem SAR may be for no more than one hundred percent (100%) of the difference between the Option Price of the underlying ISO and the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the underlying ISO at the time the Tandem SAR is exercised; and (iii) the Tandem SAR may be exercised only when the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the ISO exceeds the Option Price of the ISO.

- 7.3 EXERCISE OF FREESTANDING SARs. Freestanding SARs may be exercised upon whatever terms and conditions the Committee, in its sole discretion, imposes upon them.
- 7.4 SAR AGREEMENT. Each SAR grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the grant price, the term of the SAR, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.
- 7.5 TERM OF SARs. The term of an SAR granted under the Plan shall be determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion; provided, however, that unless otherwise designated by the Committee, such term shall not exceed ten (10) years

- 7.6 PAYMENT OF SAR AMOUNT. Upon exercise of an SAR, a Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:
 - (a) The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the grant price; by
 - (b) The number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is exercised.

At the discretion of the Committee, the payment upon SAR exercise may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent value, in Restricted Shares of equivalent value, or in some combination thereof.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

7.7 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Each SAR Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the SAR following termination of the Participant s employment with (or service to) the Company and/or its Subsidiaries. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with Participants, need not be uniform among all SARs issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination of employment or service.

7.8 NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF SARs. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, no SAR granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, all SARs granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.

ARTICLE EIGHT RESTRICTED STOCK

- 8.1 GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Shares of Restricted Stock to Participants in such amounts as the Committee shall determine.
- 8.2 RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT. Each Restricted Stock grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Period(s) of Restriction, the number of Shares of Restricted Stock granted, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.
- 8.3 TRANSFERABILITY. Except as provided in this Article 8, the Shares of Restricted Stock granted herein may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction established by the Committee and specified in the Restricted Stock Award Agreement, or upon earlier satisfaction of any other conditions, as specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the Restricted Stock Agreement. All rights with respect to the Restricted Stock granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be available during his or her lifetime only to such Participant.
- 8.4 OTHER RESTRICTIONS. Subject to Article 11 herein, the Committee may impose such other conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares of Restricted Stock granted pursuant to the Plan as it may deem advisable including, without limitation, a requirement that Participants pay a stipulated purchase price for each Share of Restricted Stock, a requirement that Participants own a certain amount of Shares before vesting shall occur, restrictions based upon the achievement of specific performance goals (Company-wide, divisional, and/or individual), time-based restrictions on vesting following the attainment of the performance goals, requirement and/or restrictions under applicable federal or state securities laws.

The Company shall retain the certificates representing Shares of Restricted Stock in the Company s possession until such time as all conditions and/or restrictions applicable to such Shares have been satisfied.

Except as otherwise provided in this Article 8, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock grant made under the Plan shall become freely transferable by the Participant after the last day of the applicable Period of Restriction.

8.5 VOTING RIGHTS. Unless otherwise designated by the Committee at the time of grant, Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares during the Period of Restriction.

8.6 DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS. Unless otherwise designated by the Committee at the time of grant, Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may be credited with regular cash or other dividends paid with respect to the underlying Shares while they are so held during the Period of Restriction. The Committee may apply any restrictions to the dividends that the Committee deems appropriate.

8.7 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Each Restricted Stock Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to receive unvested Restricted Shares (and accrued but unpaid dividends on such Shares) following termination of the Participant s employment with (or service to) the Company and/or its Subsidiaries. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Shares of Restricted Stock issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination of employment or service.

ARTICLE NINE PERFORMANCE UNITS AND PERFORMANCE SHARES

9.1 GRANT OF PERFORMANCE UNITS AND PERFORMANCE SHARES. Subject to the terms of the Plan, Performance Units and/or Performance Shares may be granted to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time, as shall be determined by the Committee.

9.2 VALUE OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. Each Performance Unit shall have an initial value that is established by the Committee at the time of grant. Each Performance Share shall have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant. The Committee shall set performance goals in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number and/or value of Performance Units/Shares that will be paid out to the Participant. For purposes of this Article 9, the time period during which the performance goals must be met shall be called a *Performance Period*. The Committee shall determine whether it is appropriate, and the extent to which, any performance goals shall be established, adjusted and communicated such that payment under the Awards qualifies as performance based compensation as defined at Section 162(m) of the Code.

9.3 EARNING OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. Subject to the terms of this Plan, after the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance Units/Shares shall be entitled to receive payout on the number and value of Performance Units/Shares earned by the Participant over the Performance Period, to be determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance goals have been achieved, as established by the Committee.

9.4 FORM AND TIMING OF PAYMENT OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. Subject to the terms of this Plan, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance Units/Shares in the form of cash or in Shares (or in a combination thereof) which have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the value of the earned Performance Units/Shares at the close of the applicable Performance Period. Such Shares may be granted subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee.

At the discretion of the Committee, Participants may be entitled to receive any dividends declared with respect to Shares which have been earned in connection with grants of Performance Units and/or Performance Shares which have been earned, but not yet distributed to Participants (such dividends shall be subject to the same accrual, forfeiture, and payout restrictions as apply to dividends earned with respect to Shares of Restricted Stock, as set forth in Section 8.6 herein). In addition, Participants may, at the discretion of the Committee, be entitled to exercise their voting rights with respect to such Shares.

An Award of Performance Shares or Performance Units shall be settled as and when the Award vests, but in no event shall a payment be made later than the close of the short term deferral period as defined in Section 409A of the Code.

9.5 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT DUE TO DEATH, DISABILITY OR RETIREMENT. Unless otherwise designated by the Committee, and set forth in the Participant s Award Agreement, in the event the employment (or service) of a Participant is terminated due to death, Disability or retirement during a Performance Period, the Participant shall receive a prorated payout of the Performance Units/Shares. The prorated payout shall be determined

by the Committee, shall be based upon the length of time that the Participant held the Performance Units/Shares during the Performance Period and shall further be adjusted based on the achievement of the pre-established performance goals. Payment of earned Performance Units/Shares shall be made at a time specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the Participant s Award Agreement.

9.6 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT FOR OTHER REASONS. In the event that a Participant s employment (or service) terminates for any reason other than those reasons set forth in Section 9.5 herein, all Performance Units/Shares shall be forfeited by the Participant to the Company unless determined otherwise by the Committee, as set forth in the Participant s Award Agreement.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

9.7 NONTRANSFERABILITY. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, Performance Units/Shares may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, a Participant s rights under the Plan shall be exercisable during the Participant s lifetime only by the Participant or the Participant s legal representative.

ARTICLE TEN OTHER INCENTIVE AWARDS

10.1 GRANT OF OTHER INCENTIVE AWARDS. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Other Incentive Awards may be granted to Participants in such amount, upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee.

10.2 OTHER INCENTIVE AWARD AGREEMENT. Each Other Incentive Award grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the amount of the Other Incentive Award granted, the terms and conditions applicable to such grant, the applicable Performance Period and performance goals, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine, subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan.

10.3 NONTRANSFERABILITY. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, Other Incentive Awards may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution.

10.4 FORM AND TIMING OF PAYMENT OF OTHER INCENTIVE AWARDS. Payment of Other Incentive Awards shall be made at such times and in such form, in cash, in Shares, or in Restricted Shares (or a combination thereof), as established by the Committee subject to the terms of the Plan. Such Shares may be granted subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, annual incentive awards may be paid in the form of Shares and/or Other Incentive Awards (which may or may not be subject to restrictions, at the discretion of the Committee).

ARTICLE ELEVEN BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION

Each Participant under the Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any benefit under the Plan is to be paid in case of his or her death before he or she receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all prior designations by the same Participant, shall be in a form prescribed the Company, and will be effective only when filed by the Participant in writing with the Company during the Participant s lifetime. In the absence of any such designation, benefits remaining unpaid at the Participant s death shall be paid to the Participant s estate.

ARTICLE TWELVE DEFERRALS

The Committee may permit a Participant to defer such Participant s receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of Shares that would otherwise be due to such Participant by virtue of the exercise of an Option or SAR, the lapse or waiver of restrictions with respect to Restricted Stock, or the satisfaction of any requirements or goals with respect to Performance Units/Shares or Other Incentive Awards. If any such deferral election is required or permitted, the Committee shall, in its sole discretion, establish rules and procedures for such payment deferrals. Any such deferral shall be made in a manner consistent with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

ARTICLE THIRTEEN RIGHTS OF EMPLOYEES AND NONEMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

13.1 EMPLOYMENT. Nothing in the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company to terminate any Participant s employment at any time, nor confer upon any Participant any right to continue in the employ of the Company.

13.2 PARTICIPATION. No Employee or Nonemployee Director shall have the right to be selected to receive an Award under this Plan or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future Award.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE FOURTEEN CHANGE IN CONTROL; ACQUISITIONS

- 14.1 TREATMENT OF OUTSTANDING AWARDS. Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, unless provision is made in connection with the transaction for continuation or assumption of the Awards, or unless otherwise specifically prohibited under applicable laws, or by the rules and regulations of any governing governmental agencies or national securities exchanges:
- (a) Any and all Options and SARs granted hereunder shall become immediately exercisable, and shall remain exercisable throughout their entire term, and any cash or property received upon exercise of any Option or SAR shall be free from further restriction;
 - (b) Any restriction periods and restrictions imposed on Restricted Shares shall lapse; and
- (c) Unless otherwise specified in a Participant s Award Agreement at time of grant, the target payout opportunities attainable under all outstanding Awards of Performance Units and Performance Shares and Other Incentive Awards shall be deemed to have been fully earned for the entire Performance Period(s) as of the effective date of the Change in Control. The vesting of all such Awards shall be accelerated as of the effective date of the Change in Control and, in full settlement of such Awards, there shall be paid out to Participants (in Shares for Awards normally paid in Shares and in cash for Awards normally paid in cash) within thirty (30) days following the effective date of the Change in Control a pro rata portion of all targeted Award opportunities associated with such outstanding Awards, based on the number of complete and partial calendar months within the Performance Period which had elapsed as of such effective date.
- 14.2 TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND MODIFICATIONS OF CHANGE IN CONTROL PROVISIONS. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan or any Award Agreement provision, the provisions of this Article 14 may not be terminated, amended or modified to affect adversely any Award theretofore granted under the Plan without the prior written consent of the Participant with respect to said Participant s outstanding Awards.
- 14.3 SUBSTITUTION OF AWARDS IN MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS. Awards may be granted under the Plan from time to time in substitution for assumed awards held by employees, officers, consultants or directors of entities who become employees, officers, consultants or directors of the Company or a Subsidiary as a result of a merger or a consolidation of the entity for which they preform services with the Company or a Subsidiary, or the acquisition by the Company or a Subsidiary of the assets or stock of such entity. The terms and conditions of any Awards so granted may vary from the terms and conditions set forth herein to the extent that the Committee deems appropriate at the time of grant to conform the Awards to the provisions of the assumed awards for which they are substituted and to preserve the intrinsic value as of the date of the merger, consolidation or acquisition transaction. To the extent permitted by applicable law and marketplace or listing rules of the primary securities market or exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted for trading, any available shares under a stockholder approved plan of an acquire company (as appropriately adjusted to reflect the transaction) may be used for Awards granted pursuant to this Section 14.3 and, upon such grant, shall not reduce the Share Pool.

ARTICLE FIFTEEN AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

- 15.1 AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION. The Board may at any time and from time to time alter, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part.
- 15.2 AWARDS PREVIOUSLY GRANTED. No termination, amendment or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect in any material way any Award previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant holding such Award.
- 15.3 REPRICING. Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan or an Award Agreement to the contrary, the Committee shall not reprice any Option or SAR without the approval of the stockholders of the Company. For this purpose reprice means (i) any of the following, or any other action that has the same effect: (A) lowering the exercise price or base price of an Option or SAR after it is granted other than an adjustment made pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.2, (B) any other action that is treated as a repricing under

TABLE OF CONTENTS

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or (C) cancellation of an Option or a SAR right at a time when its exercise price or base price exceeds the Fair Market Value of the underlying Common Stock in exchange for another stock option, stock appreciation right, restricted stock or other equity award, unless cancellation and exchange occurs in connection with a merger, acquisition, spin-off or other similar corporate transaction; and (ii) any other action that is considered to be a repricing under formal or informal guidance issued by the primary securities market or exchange on which the Common Stock is listed or admitted for trading.

ARTICLE SIXTEEN WITHHOLDING

16.1 TAX WITHHOLDING. The Company shall have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes, domestic or foreign, required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising as a result of this Plan.

16.2 SHARE WITHHOLDING. With respect to withholding required upon the exercise of Options or SARs, upon the lapse of restrictions on Restricted Stock, or upon any other taxable event arising as a result of Awards granted hereunder, Participants may elect, subject to the approval of the Committee, to satisfy the withholding requirement, in whole or in part, by having the Company withhold Shares having a Fair Market Value on the date the tax is to be determined equal to the minimum statutory total tax which could be imposed on the transaction. All such elections shall be irrevocable, made in writing, signed by the Participant, and shall be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

ARTICLE SEVENTEEN INDEMNIFICATION

Each person who is or shall have been a member of the Committee, or of the Board, shall be indemnified by the Company against and from any loss, cost, liability or expense that may be imposed upon or reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with or resulting from any claim, action, suit or proceeding to which he or she may be a party or in which he or she may be involved by reason of any action taken or failure to act under the Plan. Such person shall be indemnified by the Company for all amounts paid by him or her in settlement thereof, with the Company s approval, or paid by him or her in satisfaction of any judgment in any such action, suit or proceeding against him or her, provided he or she shall give the Company an opportunity, at its own expense, to handle and defend the same before he or she undertakes to handle and defend it on his or her own behalf. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which such persons may be entitled under the Company s Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or any power that the Company may have to indemnify them or hold them harmless.

ARTICLE EIGHTEEN SUCCESSORS

All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder shall be binding on any successor to the Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise, of all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company.

ARTICLE NINETEEN LEGAL CONSTRUCTION

19.1 GENDER AND NUMBER. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein shall also include the feminine, the plural shall include the singular, and the singular shall include the plural.

19.2 SEVERABILITY. In the event any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

19.3 REQUIREMENTS OF LAW. The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.

19.4 GOVERNING LAW. To the extent not preempted by federal law, the Plan, and all agreements hereunder, shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the conflict of laws principles thereof.

19.5 SECTION 409A COMPLIANCE. It is the intention of the Company that any award that constitutes nonqualified deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code shall comply in all respects with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, and the terms of the Plan and each such Award Agreement shall be construed, administered and deemed amended, if applicable, in a manner consistent with this intention. For purposes of any Award, each amount to be paid or benefit to be provided to a Participant that constitutes deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code shall be construed as a separate identified payment for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or an Award Agreement to the contrary, with respect to any Award that constitutes nonqualified deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, any payments to be made with respect to the Award that become payable on account of the Participant s separation from service, within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, while the Participant is a specified employee and which would otherwise be paid within six months after such Participant's separation from service shall be accumulated (without interest) and be paid on the first day of the seventh month following the Participant s separation from service, or, if earlier, within fifteen days after the appointment of the personal representative or executor of the Participant s estate following the Participant's death. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or an Award Agreement to the contrary, in no event shall the payment or settlement of any Award be accelerated where such payment or settlement constitutes deferred compensation within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code unless, and solely to the extent that, such accelerated payment or settlement is permissible under Treasury Regulation section 1.409A-3(j)(4).

19.6 RECOVERY OF AMOUNTS PAID. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee, Awards granted under the Plan shall be subject to any and all policies, guidelines, codes of conduct, or other agreement or arrangement adopted by the Board or the Committee with respect to the recoupment, recovery or clawback of compensation and/or to any provisions set for the in the applicable Award Agreement under which the Company may recover from current or former Participants any amounts paid or shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to the Award and any proceeds therefrom under such circumstances as the Committee determines appropriate. The Committee may apply any of the Company s recoupment policies or arrangements to Awards granted before any such policy or arrangement is adopted to the extent required by any applicable law or rule of any securities exchange or market on which shares of Common Stock are listed or admitted for trading, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

ARTICLE TWENTY TERMINATION

The Plan shall terminate on the tenth (10th) anniversary of the Effective Date or at such earlier time as the Committee, with the consent of the Board, may determine. No termination shall affect any Award then outstanding under the Plan.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS